

DOI: https://doi.org/10.61841/gwkxrs41

Publication URL: https://nnpub.org/index.php/BMA/article/view/2981

ISSN: 2456-3544

FROM COMPLIANCE TO COMPETITIVE EDGE: A FINANCE LEADER'S GUIDE TO IFRS S1 AND S2

1*Syed Safwan Kamal 1*FCCA. FCA. MiF

Corresponding Author: safwan_kamal@hotmail.com

To Cite This Article: Kamal, S. S. (2025). FROM COMPLIANCE TO COMPETITIVE EDGE: A FINANCE LEADER'S GUIDE TO IFRS S1 AND S2. Journal of Advance Research in Business, Management and Accounting (ISSN: 2456-3544), 11(4), 17-27. https://doi.org/10.61841/gwkxrs41

ABSTRACT

This paper examines the strategic and operational implications of implementing International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) S1 and S2, the sustainability disclosure standards introduced by the International Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB). These standards mark a pivotal shift in corporate reporting by integrating sustainability risks, especially climate-related factors, into mainstream financial disclosures, with a focus on enterprise value.

Using a qualitative, literature-based methodology, the paper identifies key challenges including regulatory misalignment across jurisdictions, fragmented environmental, social, and governance (ESG) data systems, limited internal capabilities, and increased assurance expectations. In response, it proposes a phased implementation framework encompassing materiality assessment, data governance, cross-functional collaboration, and continuous improvement. The findings highlight CFOs as key drivers of sustainability reporting and its alignment with strategy and investor needs.

Beyond compliance, IFRS S1 and S2 offer a strategic opportunity to enhance transparency, build stakeholder trust, and gain competitive advantage. The paper outlines practical implications for corporate leadership, governance structures, policymakers, and researchers, highlighting the need for convergence, assurance readiness, and ongoing capability development. Ultimately, these standards are not just regulatory requirements, they represent a new blueprint for how organizations define, measure, and communicate long-term value in an ESG-driven economy.

Key words: IFRS S1, IFRS S2, sustainability reporting, enterprise value, ESG disclosures, finance leadership, regulatory compliance, ISSB standards, climate risk, strategic reporting.



CONTENTS

1.	. Introduction		3
2.	Research Rationale		
3.			4
4. Literature Review			
		odology	
	5.1.	Research Approach	
	5.2.	Data Sources and Collection	
	5.3.	Analytical Framework	6
	5.4.	Limitations	6
6.	6. Findings		6
7. Discussion		ussion	7
8. Implication		ications	8
	8.1.	Practical Implications for Business Leaders:	8
	8.2.	Implications for Corporate Governance Practice:	9
	8.3.	Implications for Policymakers and Regulators:	9
	8.4.	Academic and Research Implications	9
9.	Conc	lusion	9
Re	eferences		



INTRODUCTION

The global shift toward sustainability reporting is no longer just a regulatory obligation, it is fast becoming a competitive differentiator for forward-thinking organizations. In this evolving landscape, the release of IFRS S1 (General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information) and IFRS S2 (Climate-related Disclosures) by the International Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB) represents a significant step toward standardizing how entities communicate ESG risks and opportunities. These standards aim to provide investors and stakeholders with consistent, decision-useful sustainability-related financial disclosures that are integrated with general-purpose financial reporting (IFRS, n.d.-a; IFRS, n.d.-b).

IFRS S1 sets out overarching principles for the disclosure of sustainability-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably affect an entity's prospects, including requirements on governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics and targets. IFRS S2, built on the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) framework, mandates more specific disclosures on climate-related risks and opportunities, such as transition risk, physical risk, and emissions targets (TCFD, 2017; IFRS, n.d.-b).

For finance leaders, these standards are more than just a technical reporting challenge. They mark a pivotal moment to embed sustainability into the heart of financial strategy, risk governance, and capital allocation. Unlike many previous ESG frameworks, IFRS S1 and S2 are designed to be integrated with financial statements and emphasize financial materiality, aligning sustainability risks with enterprise value. This convergence reflects the broader trend of investors demanding credible, comparable, and timely sustainability data to guide decision-making (Eccles & Klimenko, 2019; KPMG, 2023).

However, implementation comes with complexity. Varying levels of regulatory readiness across jurisdictions, the tension between financial and double materiality (as seen with the EU's Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive – CSRD), and the operational burden of building robust data and control systems present real challenges. Many organizations remain underprepared to meet assurance expectations, manage sustainability data across silos, or operationalize these standards within tight reporting timelines (ISS-Corporate, 2024; Kreston Indonesia, 2025).

This paper positions finance leaders as central agents of transformation. It aims to move beyond compliance checklists and instead provide a strategic roadmap for adopting IFRS S1 and S2 that enhances decision-making, governance, and investor trust. By exploring implementation frameworks, data readiness, regulatory interoperability, and change management best practices, the paper seeks to empower finance teams to turn sustainability reporting from a regulatory burden into a lever for competitive advantage.

RESEARCH RATIONALE

The implementation of IFRS S1 and IFRS S2 presents a pivotal opportunity for organizations to elevate sustainability reporting from a compliance obligation to a strategic advantage. However, this transformation is constrained by a range of persistent and complex challenges that hinder effective adoption and value realization.

One of the foremost issues is the regulatory fragmentation across jurisdictions. While IFRS S1 and S2 emphasize financial materiality, other major regulatory regimes such as the European Union's CSRD adopt a double materiality approach, which requires companies to disclose not only how sustainability issues affect the firm but also how the firm impacts people and the environment (EFRAG, 2023). This divergence leads to inconsistencies in disclosure requirements, audit expectations, and stakeholder interpretations, especially for multinational organizations navigating multiple frameworks simultaneously (ISS-Corporate, 2024; PwC, 2023).

A second critical barrier is the lack of internal infrastructure and data maturity. Many organizations still rely on fragmented or manual systems for sustainability data collection, leading to concerns around data accuracy, auditability, and integration with financial reporting. Sustainability-related data often resides in non-financial departments, such as operations, HR, or procurement, posing challenges in governance, access, and standardization. Without robust cross-functional processes, organizations struggle to align reporting with ISSB requirements (KPMG, 2023; Deloitte, 2023).

Moreover, the compressed implementation timelines and increasing demand for external assurance have added pressure on finance teams to deliver high-quality, decision-useful disclosures within a short span. This pressure is further intensified by the global trend of investor and stakeholder scrutiny, which increasingly ties sustainability performance to capital allocation, credit ratings, and brand perception (Eccles & Klimenko, 2019).

Additionally, skills and knowledge gaps remain significant. Many finance professionals lack adequate training in ESG concepts, climate science, and sustainability metrics, which are now essential for interpreting and preparing IFRS S1 and S2-compliant disclosures. The shift demands new capabilities in scenario analysis, risk mapping, emissions accounting, and stakeholder engagement, areas traditionally outside the remit of financial reporting (IFRS, n.d.-b; TCFD, 2017).



In short, while the IFRS S1 and S2 standards offer a globally consistent framework for sustainability-related financial disclosures, the readiness gap in systems, skills, governance, and regulatory alignment poses a strategic and operational dilemma. Organizations that fail to respond effectively risk not only non-compliance but also diminished investor confidence and missed opportunities for value creation.

OBJECTIVES

This paper aims to equip finance leaders with a strategic, actionable, and forward-looking approach to implementing IFRS S1 and S2. In doing so, it recognizes that sustainability reporting is no longer merely about ticking compliance boxes, but about embedding resilience, transparency, and long-term value creation into the DNA of financial decision-making. Specifically, the paper pursues the following three core objectives:

- To provide a phased implementation roadmap that enables organizations to integrate sustainability disclosures into their financial reporting systems, in line with the ISSB's requirements. The paper outlines a four-step framework, Assessment & Planning, Data Management, Reporting & Disclosure, and Continuous Improvement, that organizations can tailor to their maturity level, jurisdictional context, and stakeholder expectations (ISS-Corporate, 2024; KPMG, 2023).
- 2. To identify and unpack the operational, regulatory, and data-related challenges that organizations face in adopting IFRS S1 and S2. These include jurisdictional inconsistencies in materiality definitions, fragmented sustainability data systems, talent gaps, and increasing assurance demands. By examining these barriers through literature and industry commentary, the paper offers finance leaders a clear diagnostic lens for evaluating their internal readiness and external risks (PwC, 2023; Deloitte, 2023; IFRS, n.d.-a).
- 3. To synthesize best practices and emerging strategies from global regulatory bodies, sustainability thought leaders, and early adopters. Drawing on guidance from the ISSB, TCFD, and leading advisory firms, the paper highlights real-world steps organizations are taking to prepare for IFRS S1 and S2. These include developing centralized ESG data repositories, forming cross-functional steering committees, adopting cloud-based reporting tools, and embedding sustainability KPIs into performance management systems (IFRS, n.d.-b; TCFD, 2017; Eccles & Klimenko, 2019).

Ultimately, the objective is not simply to aid technical compliance but to enable finance leaders to view IFRS S1 and S2 as a catalyst for transforming reporting culture, enhancing investor trust, and sharpening strategic foresight. The insights presented here are designed to serve as both a guide for short-term readiness and a blueprint for long-term sustainability leadership.

LITERATURE REVIEW

The emergence of IFRS S1 and S2 by the ISSB represents a significant milestone in the evolution of global sustainability reporting. These standards aim to provide a unified baseline for disclosing sustainability-related financial risks and opportunities, thereby enhancing transparency, consistency, and comparability in corporate reporting (IFRS, n.d.-a; IFRS, n.d.-b).

ORIGINS AND PURPOSE OF IFRS S1 AND S2

IFRS S1 sets out general sustainability disclosure requirements, including governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics across all sustainability topics. IFRS S2, developed in alignment with the TCFD, focuses specifically on climate-related risks and opportunities, such as physical and transition risks, greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and climate targets (TCFD, 2017; IFRS, n.d.-b). Both standards are designed to be integrated with financial statements and emphasize financial materiality, distinguishing them from broader ESG frameworks that adopt a double materiality perspective.

The ISSB's mandate is part of a broader movement to consolidate and streamline sustainability disclosure frameworks. Prior to IFRS S1 and S2, the landscape was fragmented, with companies navigating overlapping requirements from Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP), Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB), Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), TCFD, and others. By converging these into a global baseline, the ISSB aims to reduce reporting burden and promote trust in sustainability-related disclosures (IFRS Foundation, 2021; Barker & Eccles, 2018).

REGULATORY CONVERGENCE AND JURISDICTIONAL DIVERGENCE

While IFRS S1 and S2 are positioned as a global baseline, regulatory convergence remains a challenge. The European Union's CSRD, effective from 2024, adopts a double materiality lens, requiring companies to disclose both how sustainability issues affect them (financial materiality) and how their activities impact society and the environment (impact materiality) (EFRAG, 2023). Similarly, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has proposed climate disclosure rules based on financial materiality but with differing scope and granularity (SEC, 2022).

Scholars and practitioners have emphasized that this misalignment creates significant complexity for multinational organizations that must comply with multiple frameworks, potentially resulting in redundant disclosures, inconsistent messaging, and increased costs (PwC, 2023; KPMG, 2023). The literature calls for modular and interoperable reporting solutions that allow companies to satisfy overlapping frameworks through a single disclosure architecture (ISS-Corporate, 2024).



IMPLEMENTATION BARRIERS: DATA, SYSTEMS, AND SKILLS

A consistent theme across the literature is the lack of internal readiness within organizations. Academic research and industry surveys highlight several capability gaps that hinder effective implementation:

- 1. Data fragmentation: Sustainability-related data is often decentralized, non-standardized, and reliant on manual processes, making it difficult to ensure accuracy, auditability, and integration with financial systems (Eccles & Krzus, 2018; Deloitte, 2023).
- 2. Technology and systems: Most enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems are not yet equipped to handle sustainability metrics, requiring investments in new platforms or ESG modules (KPMG, 2023).
- 3. Talent shortages: Finance teams often lack expertise in ESG concepts, climate risk modeling, and sustainability metrics, areas traditionally managed outside the finance function (IFAC, 2022).

These challenges are exacerbated by tight reporting timelines, rising expectations for assurance, and increasing pressure from investors, regulators, and rating agencies to provide credible, forward-looking sustainability disclosures (Eccles & Klimenko, 2019; McKinsey, 2022).

STRATEGIC OPPORTUNITIES IN ESG REPORTING

Despite these challenges, literature increasingly frames sustainability reporting as a strategic opportunity. Robust ESG disclosures have been linked to enhanced stakeholder trust, improved access to capital, better risk management, and long-term value creation (Serafeim, 2020; BlackRock, 2021). Finance leaders are uniquely positioned to lead this transformation by embedding sustainability into performance management, risk governance, and capital planning. Literature supports a phased implementation approach, beginning with a materiality assessment, followed by data infrastructure upgrades, policy integration, and continuous improvement. The importance of cross-functional governance, engaging sustainability, finance, legal, IT, and operations teams, is repeatedly emphasized as essential for success (World Economic Forum, 2021; IFRS, n.d.-a).

THE ROLE OF ASSURANCE AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

Emerging literature also underscores the growing role of independent assurance in sustainability disclosures. Assurance adds credibility, but its effectiveness depends on the maturity of internal controls and the clarity of metrics. There is ongoing debate about how assurance standards (e.g., ISAE 3000, upcoming ISSA standards) will align with ISSB requirements (IAASB, 2023).

Looking ahead, experts anticipate that sustainability reporting will continue to evolve, with increasing expectations for forward-looking scenario analysis, sector-specific disclosures, and digitally tagged sustainability data to improve accessibility and comparability (IFRS Foundation, 2023; McKinsey, 2023).

METHODOLOGY

This study adopts a qualitative, conceptual research methodology designed to explore the strategic, operational, and regulatory dimensions of implementing IFRS S1 and S2. Given the evolving nature of sustainability-related disclosure standards and the lack of longitudinal datasets due to their recent issuance, the study relies on secondary data and literature-based analysis to develop insights, frameworks, and recommendations for finance leaders.

RESEARCH APPROACH

The paper follows an exploratory and interpretive research design, appropriate for emerging topics with limited empirical data but high relevance to practice and policy. The objective is not to test a hypothesis through primary data collection, but rather to synthesize existing knowledge and provide a structured conceptual framework for practical implementation (Leedy & Ormrod, 2020).

This approach is commonly employed in studies of emerging regulations, corporate governance practices, and sustainability reporting standards (Bebbington et al., 2014; Gray, 2010). It allows for the integration of multidisciplinary perspectives, finance, strategy, risk management, ESG governance, and regulatory compliance, into a cohesive analysis.

DATA SOURCES AND COLLECTION

The data used in this paper are derived exclusively from secondary sources, selected based on their credibility, relevance, and recency. These include:

- Official publications from the IFRS Foundation, ISSB, TCFD, and other global standard-setting bodies
- Regulatory guidance from jurisdictions implementing or aligning with IFRS S1 and S2, such as the EU CSRD and SEC climate disclosures
- Professional insights and white papers published by Big Four accounting firms (PwC, Deloitte, KPMG, EY) and sustainability consultancies
- Peer-reviewed academic literature on ESG reporting, materiality, and corporate transparency
- Thought leadership articles, interviews, and webinars from industry associations (e.g., IFAC, WEF, IAASB)



Data collection was conducted through systematic desk research between April and July 2025, focusing on publications from 2020 onward to ensure topicality. Sources were evaluated for authority, methodological soundness, and alignment with IFRS S1 & S2 implementation challenges and strategies.

ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK

The core of the analysis is structured around a four-phase implementation framework synthesized from the literature and adapted for practical use by finance leaders. The framework consists of:

- 1. Assessment & Planning identifying reporting gaps, stakeholder needs, and regulatory obligations.
- 2. Data Collection & Management establishing governance, systems, and workflows for sustainability-related data.
- 3. Reporting & Disclosure producing decision-useful and compliant sustainability disclosures, aligned with IFRS and integrated with financial reporting.
- 4. Continuous Improvement embedding learning loops, regulatory updates, and assurance readiness into business-as-usual reporting cycles.

This phased model is informed by strategic implementation principles drawn from sustainability adoption roadmaps (World Economic Forum, 2021), regulatory alignment tools (ISS-Corporate, 2024), and ESG maturity models (PwC, 2023). The framework is used to interpret the challenges and recommendations discussed in the paper and to guide practical applications in varied organizational contexts.

LIMITATIONS

As a conceptual, literature-based study, this research has several inherent limitations:

- Lack of primary data: No interviews, surveys, or case studies were conducted, which may limit the granularity of organizational insights.
- Rapid regulatory evolution: The IFRS S1 and S2 standards are relatively new, and interpretations, enforcement
 mechanisms, and jurisdictional alignments are still unfolding. Some recommendations may need updating as
 implementation matures.
- Context-specific applicability: While the paper aims for broad relevance, the actual implementation of IFRS S1 and S2 will vary significantly by industry, geography, and organizational size.
- Bias in secondary sources: White papers and professional blogs, while insightful, may reflect the perspectives or commercial interests of their publishers.

Despite these limitations, the study provides a robust foundation for strategic planning and readiness assessment, and it contributes to the growing discourse on operationalizing sustainability standards in finance functions.

FINDINGS

The analysis of IFRS S1 and S2 through conceptual frameworks and secondary literature reveals several key findings that are critical for finance leaders seeking to operationalize sustainability disclosure in a way that goes beyond compliance. These findings are structured around the four-phase implementation framework introduced earlier, i.e., Assessment & Planning, Data Management, Reporting & Disclosure, and Continuous Improvement.

STRATEGIC IMPLEMENTATION STARTS WITH MATERIALITY AND GAP ASSESSMENT

Organizations that succeed in implementing IFRS S1 and S2 are those that begin with a thorough materiality assessment aligned with investor expectations and industry-specific risks. Unlike the broader ESG frameworks, IFRS S1 and S2 are grounded in financial materiality, focusing on information that could affect enterprise value. This calls for a shift in mindset, from sustainability as a peripheral Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) activity to a core driver of business resilience and long-term value (IFRS, n.d.-a; Eccles & Krzus, 2018).

Moreover, a structured gap analysis is essential to evaluate existing reporting practices against IFRS requirements. Firms that use maturity models and regulatory readiness tools (e.g., PwC, 2023; Deloitte, 2023) are better positioned to identify internal capability gaps, technology deficiencies, and jurisdictional alignment needs before formal disclosure cycles begin.

DATA INFRASTRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE ARE CRITICAL ENABLERS

A recurring theme across literature and industry reports is the critical importance of robust data governance and systems integration. Effective implementation of IFRS S1 and S2 depends on an organization's ability to gather, validate, and aggregate sustainability-related data from across functions, finance, legal, IT, supply chain, HR, and operations.

Finance leaders must facilitate the development of centralized ESG data repositories and automated data pipelines that support auditable, consistent, and timely disclosures (IFAC, 2022; KPMG, 2023). Without such infrastructure, the quality of sustainability reporting deteriorates, and organizations face higher assurance costs, regulatory risk, and reputational exposure.



Furthermore, data management must account for the increasing requirement for digitally tagged disclosures, enabling machine-readable sustainability data that can be integrated with mainstream financial reporting systems (IFRS Foundation, 2023).

CROSS-FUNCTIONAL COLLABORATION IS A DETERMINANT OF SUCCESS

The complexity and multidisciplinary nature of IFRS S1 and S2 implementation necessitate cross-functional coordination. Unlike traditional financial reporting processes, sustainability disclosures require inputs and validation from departments that historically have not collaborated closely with finance.

High-performing organizations are establishing ESG steering committees or sustainability councils, led or co-led by finance executives, to ensure alignment on reporting structures, definitions, metrics, and timelines (World Economic Forum, 2021). These governance bodies play a critical role in building internal awareness, clarifying accountability, and ensuring integrated thinking across silos.

Moreover, there is growing evidence that organizations with sustainability training programs for finance teams outperform peers in ESG reporting quality, as they are more equipped to interpret and challenge sustainability data with the same rigor as financial metrics (IFAC, 2022; Deloitte, 2023).

STRATEGIC INTEGRATION ENHANCES CREDIBILITY AND INVESTOR CONFIDENCE

Organizations that embed sustainability disclosures within their core strategy and financial planning functions, rather than treating them as compliance tasks, reap broader benefits. Literature and industry insights highlight that investors increasingly view climate and sustainability performance as a proxy for overall governance, innovation, and risk management capability (Eccles & Klimenko, 2019; Serafeim, 2020).

Companies that produce high-quality, investor-relevant disclosures aligned with IFRS S1 and S2 are more likely to access favorable financing, improve credit ratings, and strengthen brand trust. This advantage is magnified when disclosures are independently assured and tied to executive performance incentives or risk-adjusted capital allocation decisions. In short, credible sustainability reporting is becoming a source of competitive edge, not just a defensive compliance measure. This insight validates the paper's core thesis.

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT AND ADAPTABILITY ARE NON-NEGOTIABLE

Finally, successful implementation is not a one-time effort but a maturing capability that requires ongoing iteration, regulatory monitoring, and process enhancement. As jurisdictions begin to adopt, adapt, or extend the IFRS sustainability standards (e.g., CSRD in the EU, climate disclosure rules in the U.S. and Asia), organizations must remain agile in adjusting disclosure formats, assurance protocols, and internal controls (ISS-Corporate, 2024).

A continuous improvement approach, enabled by feedback loops, audit findings, and stakeholder engagement, is essential to maintaining relevance, comparability, and compliance in a rapidly shifting global environment. Firms that institutionalize sustainability reporting into internal audit, enterprise risk management, and investor relations functions are better equipped to respond to future developments and regulatory expectations.

DISCUSSION

The adoption of IFRS S1 and S2 signifies more than a technical reporting change, it reflects a fundamental shift in how organizations are expected to understand, manage, and communicate sustainability-related risks and opportunities. For finance leaders, this transformation is not only regulatory in nature but strategic in consequence.

REFRAMING SUSTAINABILITY AS A CORE FINANCIAL CONCERN

Traditionally, sustainability reporting was managed as a separate stream, often residing within CSR or communications teams. The IFRS S1 and S2 standards break this model by requiring sustainability information be integrated with general-purpose financial reporting and based on the concept of enterprise value. This reframes climate and ESG-related risks as core financial issues, ones that can affect valuation, capital allocation, and risk-adjusted returns (IFRS, n.d.-a; Eccles & Krzus, 2018).

As a result, finance leaders must expand their scope from stewardship of financial assets to stewardship of long-term value drivers, including climate resilience, regulatory compliance, and stakeholder trust. This redefinition challenges traditional accounting mindsets and places a premium on forward-looking scenario analysis, systems thinking, and ESG literacy (Serafeim, 2020; IFAC, 2022).

MANAGING COMPLEXITY IN A FRAGMENTED REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

Despite the ISSB's effort to establish a global baseline, regulatory divergence remains a reality. For example, the EU's CSRD mandates double materiality, while the SEC's proposed climate disclosure rule focuses on financial materiality but



differs in terms of scope and enforcement. Companies with global footprints are therefore caught between overlapping requirements that may differ in terminology, assurance levels, and data expectations (EFRAG, 2023; ISS-Corporate, 2024).

This complexity reinforces the need for modular, interoperable reporting systems that allow firms to meet multiple frameworks from a single data source. Finance leaders must understand not only the technicalities of IFRS S1 and S2 but also how these standards align, or clash with other regimes. This requires collaboration with legal, compliance, and sustainability experts to ensure that disclosures are both compliant and cohesive across jurisdictions.

THE EXPANDING ROLE OF THE CFO AND FINANCE FUNCTION

The implementation of IFRS S1 and S2 places the CFO and finance function at the center of sustainability transformation. As the guardians of disclosure quality, internal controls, and assurance readiness, finance teams must now build or acquire expertise in ESG metrics, carbon accounting, and sustainability-linked financial instruments (IFAC, 2022; KPMG, 2023). This expanded role also demands that finance leaders become change agents within their organizations. They must lead the establishment of governance structures such as ESG steering committees, champion cross-functional collaboration, and drive the cultural shift needed to treat sustainability as an integral part of strategic planning. This will also involve aligning sustainability KPIs with incentive structures, performance dashboards, and investor reporting (World Economic Forum, 2021).

FROM COMPLIANCE TO STRATEGIC DIFFERENTIATION

While many companies view IFRS S1 and S2 as compliance burdens, early adopters are beginning to see the strategic upside of high-quality sustainability reporting. These benefits include:

- a) Improved access to capital, as investors increasingly favor transparent and ESG-aligned companies (Eccles & Klimenko, 2019)
- b) Enhanced reputation and brand trust, particularly among stakeholders with rising environmental and social expectations
- c) Informed risk management, by integrating climate and ESG factors into enterprise risk assessments and capital planning
- d) Stronger resilience, by institutionalizing long-term thinking into core financial and operational processes

These outcomes validate the thesis that sustainability disclosure, when approached strategically, can become a source of competitive edge, not just compliance (Serafeim, 2020).

THE PATH FORWARD: INSTITUTIONALIZING CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

Sustainability disclosure under IFRS S1 and S2 is not a one-off exercise. The standards are expected to evolve in response to regulatory feedback, market trends, and advancements in climate science. Therefore, organizations must embed continuous improvement mechanisms into their reporting cycle, similar to those used for financial reporting, audit readiness, and performance management.

Finance leaders should invest in internal audit reviews of ESG data, update materiality assessments annually, participate in industry consultations, and ensure staff training remains current with emerging standards (IAASB, 2023; McKinsey, 2022). This forward-looking stance will help organizations remain agile, compliant, and credible in the eyes of regulators, investors, and other stakeholders.

In summary, the discussion highlights a critical inflection point for finance leaders. The successful implementation of IFRS S1 and S2 demands more than compliance, it requires strategic alignment, governance reform, technological investment, and cultural change. Those who embrace this transformation proactively will not only meet regulatory requirements but also position their organizations as leaders in the emerging landscape of sustainable finance

IMPLICATIONS

The adoption of IFRS S1 and S2 is not merely a reporting exercise; it signals a transformation in how sustainability is embedded into corporate systems, strategy, and oversight. The implications extend far beyond finance departments, influencing organizational leadership, governance practices, public policy, and academic inquiry.

PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS LEADERS: For business and finance leaders, particularly CFOs, financial controllers, and sustainability executives; IFRS S1 and S2 introduce new expectations around strategic planning, risk management, and value communication. Key Implications:

- Expanded leadership scope: CFOs must oversee not only financial metrics but also sustainability-related disclosures and assurance readiness. This requires ESG literacy, change management capability, and crossfunctional collaboration (IFAC, 2022).
- b) Redesign of internal processes: Businesses must update internal controls, data pipelines, and reporting timelines to accommodate ESG data alongside financial data (KPMG, 2023).



- c) Capital market benefits: Transparent and standardized sustainability reporting enhances investor confidence, improves access to ESG-aligned capital, and positions firms for better credit ratings (Eccles & Klimenko, 2019).
- d) Cultural shift: Finance teams must evolve from compliance-oriented reporting to strategic storytelling, where sustainability is framed as a core driver of long-term value.

Actionable Takeaways:

- a) Establish ESG steering committees co-led by finance.
- b) Integrate sustainability metrics into performance reviews and investor presentations.
- c) Invest in ESG reporting tools that support audit-ready disclosures.

IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE: IFRS S1 and S2 raise the bar for corporate governance by embedding sustainability-related oversight into board and audit committee responsibilities. Key Implications:

- a) Board-level oversight: Boards must actively oversee sustainability risks and opportunities, as mandated under IFRS S1's governance pillar. This includes climate strategy, emissions targets, and scenario analysis (IFRS, n.d.a).
- b) Audit committee evolution: Audit committees will need to evaluate not just the accuracy of financial statements, but also the completeness and credibility of climate and ESG disclosures, often with limited precedent (IAASB, 2023).
- c) Increased demand for internal assurance: Companies must create robust governance mechanisms to validate the quality, traceability, and reliability of ESG data prior to external assurance.

Governance Priorities:

- a) Include ESG literacy in board competency matrices.
- b) Align risk registers to include climate and sustainability factors.
- c) Require internal audit teams to review ESG control environments.

IMPLICATIONS FOR POLICYMAKERS AND REGULATORS: For policymakers and standard setters, IFRS S1 and S2 represent a critical opportunity, and challenge, to harmonize global sustainability reporting regimes.

Key Implications:

- a) Convergence vs. fragmentation: While the ISSB aims to provide a global baseline, varying adoption timelines and differing materiality concepts (e.g., financial vs. double materiality) pose interoperability challenges (ISS-Corporate, 2024; EFRAG, 2023).
- b) Need for regulatory clarity: Jurisdictions must provide clear guidance on how IFRS S1 and S2 align or integrate with local mandates like the CSRD or SEC climate rules.
- c) Support for capacity building: Regulators should invest in training programs and infrastructure support to help SMEs and emerging markets prepare for compliance.

Recommendations for Policymakers:

- a) Promote interoperability toolkits and technical mapping of ISSB standards against national frameworks.
- b) Phase in disclosure requirements with proportional expectations for smaller entities.
- c) Engage in global dialogue to converge assurance standards and digital taxonomies.

ACADEMIC AND RESEARCH IMPLICATIONS: The introduction of IFRS S1 and S2 opens new frontiers for scholarly exploration in accounting, sustainability, and business strategy. Research Opportunities:

- a) Effectiveness of financial materiality: Studies can assess whether IFRS's focus on enterprise value captures the full scope of ESG risks and stakeholder concerns.
- b) Comparative reporting performance: Research can examine how companies across regions interpret and implement IFRS S1 and S2 versus CSRD or TCFD.
- c) Data quality and assurance readiness: Further inquiry is needed into the readiness of ESG data systems and the effectiveness of internal control frameworks.
- d) Longitudinal impact: Scholars may explore how sustainability disclosures influence investor behavior, credit ratings, or firm performance over time.

Methodological Directions:

- a) Use mixed-methods research to evaluate implementation effectiveness.
- b) Analyze ESG disclosures using natural language processing (NLP) to assess consistency, clarity, and greenwashing risk.
- c) Conduct case studies on early adopters to identify success factors and bottlenecks.

CONCLUSION

The implementation of IFRS S1 and S2 marks a watershed moment in the convergence of sustainability and financial reporting. No longer can sustainability be relegated to separate reports or viewed through the lens of corporate social responsibility alone. These standards firmly position sustainability-related disclosures, particularly climate-related risks and opportunities, at the heart of mainstream financial decision-making. The shift reflects growing recognition that long-

term enterprise value is increasingly influenced by ESG factors that require transparent, comparable, and investor-relevant reporting.

This paper has shown that while IFRS S1 and S2 provide a strong framework, the real challenge lies in operationalization. The journey from compliance to competitive edge demands strategic intent, cross-functional collaboration, and significant upgrades in data systems, governance, and organizational culture. Finance leaders must now bridge the historical divide between financial and non-financial performance, overseeing the integration of climate-related data with income statements, balance sheets, and risk disclosures. This is not a small task, it is a redefinition of the finance function's role in an era where climate and sustainability risks are no longer theoretical but material.

Key findings suggest that a phased approach, starting with materiality assessment and gap analysis, followed by data readiness, robust reporting processes, and continuous improvement, can help companies navigate the complexities of these standards. Organizations that proactively embrace this approach are not only more likely to achieve compliance but are also better positioned to demonstrate strategic foresight, gain investor trust, and future-proof their operations.

Moreover, the implications of IFRS S1 and S2 adoption are far-reaching. Boards must deepen their ESG oversight and understand the financial implications of sustainability-related decisions. Policymakers must continue aligning global and regional frameworks to ensure comparability and reduce compliance burden. Assurance providers will need to adapt to the nuanced data challenges of ESG information. Meanwhile, academia must step in to offer empirical studies, implementation case reviews, and thought leadership to support this evolving landscape.

Importantly, the cost of inaction is rising. Inconsistent or incomplete sustainability disclosures may lead to regulatory penalties, reputational harm, reduced access to capital, and growing scrutiny from investors and rating agencies. In contrast, firms that embed sustainability into financial reporting processes signal maturity, resilience, and long-term value creation, traits that are increasingly rewarded in capital markets and stakeholder assessments.

In closing, IFRS S1 and S2 offer more than a reporting obligation; they offer a framework to transform compliance into credibility, risk into resilience, and disclosure into strategy. The finance function now stands at a crossroads. One path leads to treating these standards as another checkbox exercise. The other leads to proactive leadership, where sustainability is embedded into how companies plan, measure, and communicate their future. It is this latter path that will define the next generation of finance leaders and the organizations they serve.

REFERENCES

- [1] Bebbington et al., 2014. Sustainability accounting and accountability. London: Routledge.
- [2] Deloitte, 2023. Sustainability reporting readiness survey. [online] Available at: https://www2.deloitte.com. (accessed 15 May 2025).
- [3] Eccles, R.G. and Klimenko, S., 2019. The investor revolution. *Harvard Business Review*, [online] 97(3), pp.106–116. Available at: https://hbr.org/2019/05/the-investor-revolution (accessed 27 June 2025).
- [4] Eccles, R.G. and Krzus, M.P., 2018. *The Nordic model: An analysis of leading practices in ESG disclosure*. [online] Available at: https://www.ssrn.com/abstract=3206834 (accessed 27 June 2025).
- [5] EFRAG, 2023. European Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS) overview. [online] European Financial Reporting Advisory Group. Available at: https://www.efrag.org (accessed 9 May 2025).
- [6] Gray, R., 2010. Is accounting for sustainability actually accounting for sustainability... and how would we know?, Accounting, Organizations and Society, 35(1), pp.47–62.
- [7] IAASB, 2023. *Proposed International Standard on Sustainability Assurance (ISSA) 5000*. [online] International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Available at: https://www.iaasb.org. (accessed 15 May 2025).
- [8] IFAC, 2022. *The CFO and finance function's role in delivering sustainability information*. [online] International Federation of Accountants. Available at: https://www.ifac.org (accessed 15 May 2025).
- [9] IFRS, n.d.-a. *IFRS S1: General requirements for disclosure of sustainability-related financial information*. [online] IFRS Foundation. Available at: https://www.ifrs.org/issued-standards/ifrs-sustainability-standards-navigator/ifrs-s1-general-requirements/ (accessed 25 April 2025).
- [10] IFRS, n.d.-b. *IFRS S2: Climate-related disclosures*. [online] IFRS Foundation. Available at: https://www.ifrs.org/issued-standards/ifrs-sustainability-standards-navigator/ifrs-s2-climate-related-disclosures/ (accessed 25 April 2025).
- [11] IFRS Foundation, 2021. Consolidation of CDSB and VRF into the ISSB. [online] Available at: https://www.ifrs.org/news-and-events/news/2021/11/consolidation-with-cdsb-and-vrf-completed/ (accessed 15 May 2025).
- [12] IFRS Foundation, 2023. *Digital reporting and the IFRS sustainability standards*. [online] Available at: https://www.ifrs.org (accessed 15 May 2025).
- [13] ISS-Corporate, 2024. A global baseline? How to navigate interoperability across sustainability reporting rules. [online] Institutional Shareholder Services. Available at: https://www.iss-corporate.com/resources/blog/a-global-baseline-how-to-navigate-interoperability-across-sustainability-reporting-rules/ (accessed 15 May 2025).



- [14] KPMG, 2023. First impressions: ISSB standards IFRS S1 and IFRS S2. [online] Available at: https://home.kpmg/xx/en/home/insights/2023/07/first-impressions-ifrs-s1-ifrs-s2.html (accessed 12 June 2025).
- [15] Leedy, P.D. and Ormrod, J.E., 2020. Practical research: Planning and design. 12th ed. Boston: Pearson.
- [16] McKinsey & Company, 2022. *How ESG disclosure is reshaping corporate strategy*. [online] Available at: https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/sustainability/our-insights/how-esg-disclosure-is-reshaping-corporate-strategy (accessed 10 June 2025).
- [17] PwC, 2023. *The CSRD imperative: How to prepare for Europe's new sustainability rules*. [online] Available at: https://www.pwc.com (accessed 12 June 2025).
- [18] PwC, 2023. CSRD and beyond: ESG readiness diagnostic. [online] Available at: https://www.pwc.com (accessed 12 June 2025).
- [19] SEC, 2022. *Proposed rules to enhance and standardize climate-related disclosures for investors*. [online] U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. Available at: https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2022-46 (accessed 12 June 2025).
- [20] Serafeim, G., 2020. How to build enduring ESG strategies. *Harvard Business Review*, [online] Available at: https://hbr.org/2020/03/how-to-build-enduring-esg-strategies (accessed 3 April 2025).
- [21] TCFD, 2017. Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures. [online] Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures. Available at: https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/publications/final-recommendations-report/ (accessed 10 June 2025).
- [22] World Economic Forum, 2021. Measuring stakeholder capitalism: Towards common metrics and consistent reporting of sustainable value creation. [online] Available at: https://www.weforum.org/reports/measuring-stakeholder-capitalism-towards-common-metrics-and-consistent-reporting-of-sustainable-value-creation (accessed 3 April 2025).